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Before the Court are the Motions to Dissbf Defendants Hilliard and Vanlaningham,
(collectively, the “State Defedants”), (Doc. 35), and Defendaounty of Orange, (“Orange
County”) (Doc. 32), (collectivgl the “Defendants”). For éhfollowing reasons, Defendants’

Motions to Dismiss are GRANTEIN PART and DENIED IN PART.
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|. Background

A. Factual Background

For the purposes of the present Motions,Gbert accepts as true the facts (but not the
conclusions) stated in Plaintiff's SecoAthended Complaint (“SAC”). (Doc. 22.)

On May 28, 2008, Plaintiff alleges that he was driving on Route 17 West in the County of
Orange when Hilliard pulled Plaintiff's car ovand accused him, falsehnd without probable
cause, of driving while intoxicated and with iaoeperable headlight. (SAC 13-16.) According
to Plaintiff, Hilliard pulled him over after Vanlaningham, then off duty, had called the police
department with a complaint abdeiaintiff’'s erratic driving. kd. at 37.) Plainff contends that
the State Defendants were actingetaliation for Plaintiff haing previously sued New York
State Police Sergeant Kyle J. Kroegdd. &t 52;see Peterec v. Kroegddo. 08-CV-1626, 2009
WL 320798 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 9, 2009).) Vanlaninghavho observed Hilliard making the arrest,
allegedly stated, “I recognize [Plaintiff's] licenpkate, he’s the one that sued Kroeger.” (SAC
52.) Plaintiff further asserts that Hilliardfused to accommodate Plaintiff's disabilities by
failing to conduct the “Field Sobriety Tésit the Monroe police departmentd.(at 17-19.)
Additionally, Plaintiff contendshat his blood alcohol level shiolhave been established by a
blood test rather than a breatlmdy, as his asthma medicatiofluenced the breathalyzer’s
results. Id. at 23.) Plaintiff further lieges that Hilliard subsequtiyconspired with the Office
of the Orange County District Attorney (“DAtd conduct a malicious prosecution against him.
(Id. at 45-48.) Finally, Plaintiff contends tHatange County has failed tin its employees.
(Id. at 55-62.)

Plaintiff asserts claims of false arrefsiise imprisonment, malicious prosecution,

conspiracy, retaliation, and abusfecriminal process. He st claims violations of the



Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 U.S.C. § 12&0%eq. (“ADA”), deprivation of his
right to access the courts, negligent hiramgl retention, and rekd state-law claims.
B. Procedural History

Plaintiff filed his Complaint on May 16, 2012. (Doc. 2.) On June 8, 204123 kponte
dismissed Plaintiff's claims against the @ga County DA and Assistant District Attorneys
(“ADAs") Tiffany Reis and JennifieOnofry, and instructed Plaiff to file an Amended
Complaint, (Doc. 6), which he did on JWy2012, (Doc. 11). By letter dated September 12,
2012, the State Defendants requested a pre-matiaierence to seek peission to file a
Motion to Dismiss. (Doc. 12.) On OctotiE), 2012, the County of @nge wrote a letter
similarly requesting a pre-motion conference toussdts anticipated Motion to Dismiss. (Doc.
19.) Defendants’ letters ga®aintiff notice of the purported defects in his Amended
Complaint, and thus in an Ondéated October 25, 2012, | instredtPlaintiff to file a Second
Amended Complaint to address the issues detaildkifetters. (Doc. 2L Plaintiff filed his
SAC on November 20, 2012, (Doc. 22), and Deferslardved to dismiss shortly thereafter,
(Docs. 32, 35).

Discussion
A. Legal Standard

“To survive a motion to dismiss, a complamust contain sufficient factual matter,
accepted as true, to ‘state a claim f@fehat is plausible on its face.’Ashcroft v. Iqbgl556
U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quotirell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). “A claim
has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleadggfual content that allows the court to draw the
reasonable inference that the defendmitible for the misconduct allegedld. “While a

complaint attacked by a Rule 12(b)(6) motiordismiss does not need detailed factual



allegations, a plaintiff’'s obligadn to provide the grounds of resttittement to relief requires

more than labels and conclusions, and a formuéaiitation of the elementsf a cause of action
will not do.” Twombly 550 U.S. at 555 (alteration, citatis, and internal quotation marks
omitted). While Federal Rule of Civil Procedu8 “marks a notable and generous departure
from the hyper-technical, code-pleagl regime of a prior era, . . . it does not unlock the doors of
discovery for a plaintiff armed withothing more than conclusionslgbal, 556 U.S. at 678-79.

In considering whether a complaint staiedaim upon which relief can be granted, the
court “begin[s] by identifying pleadings that, basa they are no more than conclusions, are not
entitled to the assumption ofith,” and then determines whet the remaining well-pleaded
factual allegations, accepted asetr“plausibly give rise tan entitlement to relief.’1d. at 679.
Deciding whether a complaint states a plausitdercfor relief is “a context-specific task that
requires the reviewing court traw on its judicial experience and common sengg.”

“[W]here the well-pleaded facts do not permit the tooiinfer more than the mere possibility of
misconduct, the complaint has alleged — but itf@sshown’ — ‘that thepleader is entitled to
relief.” Id. (alteration omitted) (quotinged. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2)).

Pro secomplaints are held to less stringenhdi@ds than those drafted by lawyers, even
following Twomblyandigbal. See Erickson v. ParduS51 U.S. 89, 94 (2007) (per curiam);
Harris v. Mills, 572 F.3d 66, 72 (2d Cir. 2009). But while pleadings foaseparty should be

read “'to raise the strongestguments that they suggesKevilly v. New York410 F. App’x
371, 374 (2d Cir. 2010) (summary order) (quotdrgwnell v. Krom 446 F.3d 305, 310 (2d Cir.
2006)), dismissal of pro secomplaint is nevertheless appropriate where a plaintiff has clearly

failed to meet minimum pleading requiremestse Rodriguez v. Weprihl6 F.3d 62, 65 (2d



Cir. 1997);accord Honig v. BloomberdNo. 08-CV-541, 2008 WL 8181103, at *4 (S.D.N.Y.
Dec. 8, 2008)aff'd, 334 F. App’x 452 (2d Cir. 2009).
B. Documents Considered on a Motion to Dismiss

When deciding a motion to dismiss, the Coufttview is limited to the facts as asserted
within the four corners of the complaint, the doents attached to the complaint as exhibits,
and any documents incorporated in the complaint by refereiteCarthy v. Dun & Bradstreet
Corp, 482 F.3d 184, 191 (2d Cir. 2008ge Faulkner v. Beef63 F.3d 130, 134 (2d Cir. 2006).
There are limited circumstances, however, wihé&appropriate for a court to consider
documents outside of the complaint in connection with a motion to dis®ess\Weiss v. Inc.
Vill. of Sag Harboy 762 F. Supp. 2d 560, 567 (E.D.N.Y. 20{d9urt may properly consider
documents “integral” to complaint, docuntemelied upon in draftig complaint, public
documents, and facts of which judicial notroay be taken). When matters outside the
pleadings that do not fall into these limited catégs are included with a response to a Rule
12(b)(6) motion, “a district court must eithercbxde the additional material and decide the
motion on the complaint alone or convert thetiototo one for summary judgment . . . and
afford all parties the opportunitg present supporting materialFried! v. City of N.Y,.210 F.3d
79, 83 (2d Cir. 2000) (internal quotation marks omitted).

The State Defendants submitted the incideport for Plaintiff's May 28, 2008 arrest,
the corresponding Uniform Traffic Tickets, andintiff’s Notice of Claim, (Knudsen Decl. Exs.
A-B),? with their motion papers. | can considiee Uniform Traffic Tickets because they are
integral to Plaintiff's SAC, as they are mamted in the SAC and correspond to SAC Exhibit 1.

It is not proper, however, for me to consider itthe incident repodr Plaintiff's Notice of

! Copies of all unpublished decisions cited herein will be sent to Plaintiff.

2“Knudsen Decl.” refers to the Declaration of John Knudsen. (Doc. 37.)



Claim in resolving a motion to dismiss wherehase, they were nottathed, incorporated by
reference, or integral to the SAGee Weiss/62 F. Supp. 2d at 563ee also Vaher v. Town of
Orangetown, N.Y916 F. Supp. 2d 404, 425 (S.D.N.Y. 20{r&ference in Amended Complaint
to Notice of Claim still “clearly insufficieti to render document integral to Amended
Complaint);Coggins v. Cnty. of NassahNo. 07-CV-3624, 2008 WL 2522501, at *6 n.4
(E.D.N.Y. June 20, 2008) (refusing to consideideent reports at motion to dismiss stage)
(collecting casesgff'd sub nom. Coggins v. Buonoiz61 F. App’x 224 (2d Cir. 2010gert.
denied 131 S. Ct. 995 (2011). In any event, thesaudwmnts would not affect my analysis at
this stage of the litigation.

C. Analysis

1. Claims Against the State Defendants

Plaintiff asserts several stadnd federal causes of action against the State Defendants
arising out of his May 28, 2008 arrest:

e 42 U.S.C. 81983 and state-law False sir@nd False Imprisonment (Hilliard)
e 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and state-law IMaus Prosecution (Hilliard)

e 42 U.S.C. § 1983 Unlawful Seizure Under the Fourth Amendment (Hilflard)
e ADA and New York State Human Rightswg“NYSHRL") Violations (Hilliard)

e 42 U.S.C. 881981, 1983, and 1985 Conspiracy with the Orange County DA’s
Office (Hilliard)

e False Reporting of an Incident irolation of New York Penal Law § 240.50(3)
(Hilliard)

42 U.S.C. § 1983 Retaliation Under fhiest Amendment (State Defendants)

% Although Plaintiff did not state a separate causactibn alleging a Fourth Amendment (or Fourteenth
Amendment) violation in his SAC, | will construe the SAGrtolude an allegation that Hilliard's traffic stop was an
illegal seizure under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendme®eeSAC 13; Memorandum of Law in Support of
John Peterec, PlaintifRro SeOpposition to Defendants’ Motion to Dismig®’s Opp.”), (Doc. 50), 13Albright v.
Oliver, 510 U.S. 266, 310 n.28 (1994) (Stevens, J., dissenting) (“[T]he Fourth Amendment éseatbtiapply to
state actors. Itis only because the Court has held thatitracy rights protected against federal invasion by that
Amendment are implicit in the concept of ordered liberiytected by the Due ProceSkuse of the Fourteenth
Amendment that the Fourth Amément has any relevance in [an unlawful seizure] case.”).)



e 42 U.S.C. 881981, 1983, 1985 Conspiracy (State Defendants)

e 42 U.S.C. 81983 First Amendment ViolatiohRight of Access to Courts (State
Defendants)

(SAC 13-54, 80-84.) The State Defendants guhtbat except for Plaintiff's claims for
malicious prosecution and dendalaccess to the courts, Pltifis federal claims are barred
under the applicable staes of limitations. (State Ds’ Mem. 5-6.The State Defendants further
allege that the claims that are not time-basieould be dismissed for failure to state a claim
pursuant to Federal Rule Givil Procedure 12(b)(6).1d. at 11-12.)

a. Statute of Limitations

i. False Arrest and False Imprisonment

Although Section 1983 provides a federal causactibn, “federal law looks to the law
of the State in which the cause of action arosdor the length of th statute of limitations.”
Wallace v. Katp549 U.S. 384, 387 (2007) (statute of limitations is “that which the State
provides for personal-injury torts” In New York, the applicable statute of limitations for a
Section 1983 claim is three yeaiSee Owens v. Okyré88 U.S. 235, 251 (1989); N.Y. C.P.L.R.
§ 214(5). Federal law, however, determittesdate on which a Section 1983 action accrues,
and the general rule is that “agat occurs when the plaintiff has a complete and present cause of
action, that is, when the plaintiff cdife suit and obtain relief."Wallace 549 U.S. at 388
(alteration, internal citatn, and quotation marks omitted).

The statute of limitations for a claim of false imprisonment — and false arrest, which is a
species of false imprisonment — begins to run “when the alleged false imprisonmentiénais.”
388-89 (internal quotation marks omitted). Fatsprisonment ends when “the victim becomes

held pursuant to legal process — when, for exan® is bound over by a gistrate or arraigned

“ “State Ds’ Mem.” refers to the Memorandum of LawSimpport of the Trooper Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss.
(Doc. 38.)



on charges.”Lynch v. Suffolk Cnty. Police Dep't, In848 F. App’'x 672, 675 (2d Cir. 2009)
(summary order) (alteration andennal quotation marks omitted). Likewise, damages for false
arrest “cover the time of detention up until issuance of process or arraignment, but not more.”
Wallace 549 U.S. at 390 (internal quotation markgtted). In this case, the claim for false
arrest arose upon Plaintiff's M&8, 2008 arrest and ended upos d&wiraignment soon thereafter.
Plaintiff contends thatleck v. Humphreyb12 U.S. 477 (1994), applies instead of
Wallace and thus his claims for false arrest arddamprisonment did not accrue until after the
criminal proceedings were terminated in his fav@edSAC 30-33 (“The prosecution could not
obtain a conviction of me withotite evidence(s) obtained byetfalse arrest. As such, the
claim accrued when the prosecution ended. . P9 Opp. 11.) As the charges against Plaintiff
were dismissed on May 18, 2011, Pldfrdileges that he had threears from that date to file
his Complaint, making his May 16, 2012 Compldimely. (SAC 33.) The Supreme Court
expressly rejected this argumentifallace where the plaintiff alstheorized that the “initial
Fourth Amendment violation set the wheelsriation for his subgpient conviction and
detention,” and thus the date he was relef®ed custody was when his false imprisonment
claims accruedWallace 549 U.S. at 391. In rejecting tp&intiff’'s argument, the Supreme
Court noted that “even though the full extent @& thjury [wa]s not then known or predictable,”
the statute of limitations began to run when tteentiff appeared beforie magistrate and was
bound over for trial.ld. (internal quotation marks omitted). Furthermore, the Court explicitly
stated thaHeckwould not apply to a situation where,leere, there is no outstanding criminal
judgment. Id. at 393 (“[T]heHeckrule for deferred accrual called into play only when there
exists a conviction or sentence that hasbeen . . . invalidated, that to say, an outstanding

criminal judgment.”) (emphasis in original) (inted quotation marks omittg. Thus, Plaintiff's



contention that his false impasment did not end until the criminal proceedings terminated
must be rejected.

On May 28, 2008, following the traffic stop, Plafhtvas issued three appearance tickets,
(seeSAC Ex. 1; Knudsen Decl. Ex. A, at 3;8nd thus his claim accrued on that da¢e,
DeMartino v. New YorkNo. 12-CV-3319, 2013 WL 3226789, at *13 (E.D.N.Y. June 24, 2013)
(false arrest claim accrued when ptdf was issued appearance tickétjeir v. City of N.Y.No.
05-CV-9268, 2008 WL 3363129, at *10 (S.D.N.Yud\ 11, 2008) (“[Plaintiff's] [Section] 1983
claim for false arrest accrued . . . when he gi@en the desk appearance ticket and released
from the stationhouse.®).As more than three years elapdmtween the date Plaintiff was
issued the appearance tickand the filing othis lawsuit on May 16, 2012, his Section 1983
claims for false arrest and false imprisonmemettime-barred and are, therefore, dismissed.

Plaintiff's state-law claims for false arrefdlse imprisonment, and “negligence in the

performing of an arrest” are also time-barfeth New York, intentional torts such as false arrest

® Plaintiff also citesHargroves v. City of N.Y694 F. Supp. 2d 198, 211 (E.D.N.Y. 201@)/d on other grounds
411 F. App’x 378 (2d Cir. 2011), and contends th&¥#llaceapplies to his claims, he should receive the benefit of
equitable tolling becaud#/allacebrought about a change in the law. (P’s Opp. Hajgrovesis inapposite. The
Hargrovesplaintiffs filed their complaint prior to the issuance of Wallacedecision. See Hargrove$94 F.

Supp. 2d at 211-12. At that time, the law in this Circuit barred pursuit of a Section 1983 claim for false arrest
“during the pendency of a criminal meeding arising from the same trartgacif the parallel [Section] 1983 case
would create the distinct possibility of an inconsistentltéfstine prosecutor’s evidenagas dependent upon a valid
arrest.” Id. at 212 (internal quotation marks omitted). Based on then-controlling laWatigeovesplaintiffs’
Section 1983 false arrest claims would have been distise plaintiffs had inelded those claims in their
original complaint, which was filed during the pendency of their criminal proceettingAccordingly, the

plaintiffs filed a complaint stating Section 1983 false strodaims within one year after their convictions were
overturned.ld. By that time Wallacehad been decided, making the plaintiffs’ claims untimely. The court
concluded that the intervening change in law occasion&tlddlacewas the “type of exérordinary circumstance
that justifie[d] equitable tolling.”ld. at 211. Here, in contrast, Plaintiff's claims accrued &ftalacewas decided
and known as controlling law in this Circuit, and thus there intervening change in law, or other extraordinary
circumstance, that would justify equitable tolling.

® Even if Plaintiff was not released immediately upon issuance of the tickets, Plaintiff has alleged that his
arraignment occurred in June 2008, (P’s Opp. 10), and thus to be timely, his Compéaihaveubeen filed by June
2011.

" As “negligence in performing an arrest” is not a cogrizataim under New York law, | will consider it akin to a
personal injury action sounding in negligence, asBthalleges that Hilliard improperly conducted the field
sobriety tests by refusing to take into account his disab and thus placed him in physical peril. (SAC 18-19.)



and false imprisonment are subject to a one-gadminety-day statut limitations if brought
against a state actoeeN.Y. Court of Claims Act § 1@&¢b); N.Y. C.P.L.R. § 215(3).
Negligence is governed by a three-yaad ninety-day statute of limitationSeeN.Y. Court of
Claims Act 8 10(3); CPLR § 214(5). As w#hSection 1983 claim for false imprisonment,
state-law false imprisonment claims accrue when the “detention ce@se®’v. Novello 856
N.Y.S.2d 497, at *2 (Sup. Ct. 2008) (unpublisheddat#cision), and a negligence claim such as
Plaintiff’'s accrues on the date the injury occsgex Lindor v. Palisades Collection, LL914
N.Y.S.2d 867, 870-71 (Sup. Ct. 2010). For theoragliscussed above, Plaintiff's claims
accrued on May 28, 2008, and thus were time-bdiyatie time he filed his initial Complaifit.
ii. Conspiracy

Plaintiff alleges claims for conspiracynder 42 U.S.C. 88 1981, 1983, and 1985, all of
which are subject to a thrgear statute of limitations.See Harrison v. Harlem Hos864 F.
App’x 686, 688 (2d Cir. 2010) (summary ordd?gige v. Police Dep’'t of Schenecta@p4 F.3d
197, 199 n.2 (2d Cir. 2001). A plaintiff's claimrfoonspiracy accrues “once the plaintiff knows
of the injury on which the claim is baseddghory v. N.Y. State Dep’t of Edut31 F.3d 326,
331 (2d Cir. 1997), and aghtiff does not need to wait until the conspiracy is terminated to
bring suit,see Singleton v. City of N,¥%32 F.2d 185, 192 (2d Cir. 1980).

Plaintiff alleges that the StaRefendants conspired to arré&saintiff in retaliation for
Plaintiff's prior lawsuit against Kroeger. (SAD-52.) The allegationsontained in the SAC

indicate that Plaintiff firstearned about the alleged conggly to arrest him on May 28, 2008,

® The State Defendants also conterat flaintiff's state-law claims fdalse arrest, false imprisonment, and
negligence should be dismissed as tlmaered because Plaintiff did not fdeNotice of Claim hin ninety days

from the time his cause of action accru&keN.Y. Court of Claims Act § 10(3), (3-b). | need not reach that issue
because Plaintiff's claims were filed Wvafter the applicable statutes of lintitns expired and are, therefore, time-
barred.

° Plaintiff's allegation that Hilliard conspired with ti@range County DA’s Office to maliciously prosecute him,
(SAC 45-48), will be discussed below.
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when Vanlaningham told Hilliard that he “recogejd] [Plaintiff's] license plate” and Plaintiff
was “the one that sued KroegerId.(at 52.) Plaintiff's clan for the State Defendants’
conspiracy, which accrued on May 28, 2008, is thus-tvarred, as he did not file his Complaint
until approximately four years after the incideoturred. Accordingly, Plaintiff's claims for
conspiracy against the State Defendants are disnfised.

iii. lllegal Seizurée"

The statute of limitations for an unlawful seizure is also three yssgd\iallard v.
PotenzaNo. 94-CV-223, 2007 WL 4198246, at (B.D.N.Y. Nov. 21, 2007) (finding it a
“rather modest leap” to appWallaceto other causes of actiancluding search and seizure
claims) (collecting caseaff'd, 376 F. App’x 132, 133 (2d Ci2010) (summary ordergert.
denied 131 S. Ct. 664 (2010), and the claim accruesnithe plaintiff “has a complete and
present cause of actior§pencer v. Connecticug60 F. Supp. 2d 153, 159 (D. Conn. 2008).
“[A] seizure of property occurs vem ‘there is some eaningful interference h an individual’s
possessory intereststimat property.” Id. (quotingUnited States v. Jacobset66 U.S. 109, 113
(1984)). When the “act of taking the propertg@nplete, the seizure has ended and the Fourth
Amendment no longer appliesld. (internal quotation marks omittedJhus, Plaintiff's claim
accrued, and the statute of limitations begamitg on May 28, 2008, the day of the traffic stop
constituting the allegedly unlawful seizure. Raintiff did not file his Complaint until almost

four years later, his claim is time-barred and must be dismissed.

1 The State Defendants also contend EHaintiff's claims for conspiracy fatb state a claim because, as employees
of the same entity, the State Defendants cannot legally conspire with each other. (State Ds’ Mem. 9.) In light of my
disposition, | need not reach this issue.

M If Plaintiff by alleging illegal seizure intends to referthe seizure of his person, this claim would duplicate the
false arrest claim. | will assume the intends to refer to the seizure of property — perhaps his vehicle — upon that
arrest.
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iv. First Amendment Retaliation

Plaintiff's claim for First Amendment rdtation is brought under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and
thus, as discussed above, is subjeet tiree-year statute of limitationSee Pearl v. City of
Long Beach296 F.3d 76, 79 (2d Cir. 2008hub v. Westchester Cmty. Gd@b6 F. Supp. 2d
227, 242 (S.D.N.Y. 2008Ponovan v. Inc. Vill. of Malvern®47 F. Supp. 2d 210, 216
(E.D.N.Y. 2008). The cause of action accrues oen plaintiff utters the alleged protected
speech, but rather when hdfsus retaliatory action as a result of that speednand v. N.Y.
State Dep’t of Taxation & FinNo. 10-CV-5142, 2013 WL 3874425, at *14 (E.D.N.Y. July 25,
2013) (internal quotation marks ameid). Plaintiff alleges thathen the State Defendants
arrested him on May 28, 2008, it was in retaliatiaonHtaintiff's prior lawsuit against Kroeger.
(SAC 48-50, 80-81.) Thus, Plaiffis claim for First Amendmenretaliation accrued on May 28,
2008, and is, therefore, time-barred and dismissed.

v. ADA and NYSHRL Violation

Plaintiff asserts identical @ims under the ADA and the NYSHRL arising from Hilliard’s
alleged failure to conduct the field sobriédgts in a “controlled environment” and a non-
defendant officer’s allegkdecision to administer a breathalyrather than a blood test to gauge
Plaintiff's blood alcohol leel. (SAC 42-44.)

To pursue a claim under the ADA, a plaintiff tst first assert thesclaims with the
[Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”)] . . . within 300 days of the allegedly
discriminatory action,Li-Lan Tsai v. Rockefeller Univ46 F. App’x 657, 658 (2d Cir. 2002)
(summary order)see42 U.S.C. 8 2000e-5(e)(1), tre claim is time-barredee Davidson v.
LaGrange Fire Dist.No. 08-CV-3036, 2012 WL 2866248,*& (S.D.N.Y. June 19, 2012),

aff'd, No. 12-CV-2825, 2013 WL 1876525 (2d Cir. May2013) (summary order). Plaintiff

12



has not alleged that he filed a claim with the EE@nd his claim may be dismissed on that basis
alone® See Kendall v. Fiss@49 F. App’x 19, 20 (2d Cir. 200%ummary order) (affirming
dismissal of ADA claim where gintiff failed to file EEOC chrge within 300 days of the
alleged discriminatory act)Because Plaintiff ipro se however, in an excess of caution | will
assume for the purposes of this motion thatri@ff filed a claim wth the EEOC within the
allotted time.

The ADA does not contain a statute of linibas and thus “courts look to analogous
state law to determine thegropriate limitations period.Gardner v. WansaytNo. 05-CV-
3351, 2006 WL 2742043, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 26, 2006). In determining the applicable time
constraints for claims brought muant to the ADA, “courts in th district apply New York’s
three-year statute of limitatiorier personal injury claims.'ld. Likewise, NYSHRL Section
296 has a three-year statute of limitatioBge Odom v. Doad97 F. App’x 88, 89 (2d Cir.
2012) (summary order)As with Section 1983 claims, the statute of limitations accrues when
Plaintiff “knew or had reason to know of thgury serving as the basis for his claintiarris v.
City of N.Y, 186 F.3d 243, 247 (2d Cir. 1999ge Damino v. City of N,.YNo. 99-CV-3638,
2004 WL 2032515, at *4 (E.D.N.XSept. 13, 2004) (statute of limitations for Section 1983 and
NYSHRL claims is three years).

Plaintiff “knew or had reason to know” thidilliard had allegedly violated the ADA and

the NYSHRL when Hilliard conducted the field sty test and when the non-defendant officer

12n his opposition, Plaintiff failed to address the StateeB@ants’ argument that WMeDA claim was time-barred.
Accordingly, | may also dismiss thisaiin based on Plaintiff's abandonme®tee Martinez v. City of N,YNo. 11-
CV-7461, 2012 WL 6062551, at *1 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 612) (“A court ‘may, and generally will, deem a claim
abandoned when a plaintiff fails to respond to a defendant’s arguments that the claim shouldsbedii§mi
(quotingLipton v. Cnty. of Orange, N,Y315 F. Supp. 2d 434, 446 (S.D.N.Y. 2008dbinson v. FischeNo. 09-
CV-8882, 2010 WL 5376204, at *10 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 29, 2010) (report and recommendation) (collecting cases).
Because Plaintiff ipro se however, | will overlook his failure to ppse the State Defendants’ contention, and |
will address the ADA claim.
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administered the breathalyzer on May 28, 2008Pjaantiff did not filehis Complaint until
approximately four years later. AccordingBlaintiff's claims for discrimination under the
ADA and the NYSHRL are time-barred and dismissed.

b. Right of Access to Courts

The right of access to courts stems frohe“First Amendment right to petition for
redress, the Privileges andrunities Clause of Article I\Msection 2, and the Due Process
Clauses of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendmen®ohterio v. KayeNo. 06-CV-6289, 2007
WL 1029901, at *1 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 5, 2007nternal quotation marks omitted)Denial of
access” claims are generally broughtguamt to one of two theoriesd. First, a plaintiff may
claim that “systemic official amn frustrate[d]” his efforts tprepare and file a lawsuitd.
(internal quotation marks omitted). For exae@prisoners have sued for access to a law
library, [] or indigent plaintiffs have sued for waivers of filing feetd” (internal quotation
marks omitted). Second, a plaintiff may allégat his ability to file a lawsuit has been
“irrevocably lost,” generallypecause of “a massive governmem@er-up denyinglaintiffs the
ability to gather evidence.Id.

Plaintiff's theory here appears to be tha right of access to ¢hcourts was thwarted
because he was arrested in retaliation feirttpexercised that right by suing KroegegeéP’s
Opp. 22 (citingHarrison v. Springdale Water & Sewer Comni7i80 F.2d 1422 (8th Cir. 1986)
(access to courts impaired if individual threateaetlarassed in retaliation for filing lawsuit)).)
In the Second Circuit such a claim would lastrued as a First Amendment retaliation claim,
see, e.g.Greenwich Citizens Comm., Inc. v. Cntys. of Warren & Wash. Indus. Dev. Agéncy
F.3d 28, 31 (2d Cir. 1996) (citingarrison in discussing First Amendment retaliation);

Soundview Assocs. v. Town of Riverh@&b F. Supp. 2d 320, 341-42 (E.D.N.Y. 2010) (same);
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Glenview Constr., Inc. v. Bucd65 F. Supp. 2d 545, 552 (S.D.N.Y. 2001) (same), and for the
reasons stated above would be édrpy the statute of limitation&ven construed as a denial of
access to the courts, however, the statute of liimits would be a bar for the same reasons.
Plaintiff was aware on May 28, 2008 of all oétfacts underlying his @m — his arrest and
Vanlaningham’s comment regardihg suit against Kroeger — so the claim accrued on that date
and was time-barred by the time he filed his initial Complaint.

Further, to state a denial afcess claim, a plaintiff musilege that a defendant “caused
‘actual injury,’i.e., took or was responsible for actionattthindered a plaintiff’s efforts to
pursue a legal claim.”Monsky v. Moragharnl27 F.3d 243, 247 (2d Cit997) (alteration and
internal citation omitted) (quotinigewis v. Caseyb18 U.S. 343, 351 (1996pee Cancel v.
Goord, No. 00-CV-2042, 2001 WL 303713, at *4 (S.DYNMar. 29, 2001) (“[I]n order to
survive a motion to dismiss a plaintiff must allege that the defendant’s actions resulted in
actual injury to the plaintiff such as the dismissal of an otherwise meritorious legal claim.”).
Plaintiff fails to allege any facts suggesting ttieg State Defendants daghything that “hindered
[his] efforts to pursue a legal claiml’ewis 518 U.S. at 351. Plaintiff litigated the lawsuit
against Kroeger to conclusiorseg Peterec v. Kroegddo. 08-CV-1626, Doc. 26Y filed the
instant lawsuit, and does not idiéy any other legal claim he wadsndered in pursuing. He thus
has failed to allege any “actual injury’d,, actions that hindedehis ability to file a legal claim).
Lewis 518 U.S. at 351.

Accordingly, Plaintiff's claim that the SeiDefendants violated his right of access to

courts is dismissed.

13| may take judicial notice of publiecords such as court docke®ee EM Ltd. v. Republic of Argentj&®5 F.3d
201, 205 n.4 (2d Cir. 2012)jangiafico v. Blumentha#71 F.3d 391, 398 (2d Cir. 2006).
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c. False Reporting of an Incident

Plaintiff contends that Hilliard’s incident report contained false statements in violation of
New York Penal Law § 240-50(3). (SAC 54.) Thiaim must fail because “private citizens do
not have a private cause of actifor criminal violations.” Alexander v. TysqiNo. 11-CV-710,
2013 WL 1798896, at *2 n.2 (D. Conn. Apr. 29, 201B)aintiff's claim is accordingly
dismissed.

d. Malicious Prosecution

To prevail on a claim for malicious pesution under Section 1983, a plaintiff must
establish the elements of a maliciguesecution claim under New York laiee Manganiello
v. City of N.Y,.612 F.3d 149, 160-61 (2d Cir. 201Pgrez v. DuranNo. 11-CV-5399, 2013 WL
3357166, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. July 3, 2013). A clafor malicious prosecution under New York law
requires a plaintiff to prove: “(ithe initiation or continuation & criminal proceeding against
plaintiff; (2) termination of the proceeding phaintiff's favor; (3) lack of probable cause for
commencing the proceeding; af#) actual malice as a motivation for defendant’s actions.”
Manganiellg 612 F.3d at 161 (internal quotation madmitted). A claim for malicious
prosecution under Section 1983 alequires that the plaintiff establish “a sufficient post-
arraignment liberty restraint to implicatee plaintiff's FourthAmendment rights."Rohman v.
N.Y.C. Transit Auth. (NYCTAJ15 F.3d 208, 215 (2d Cir. 2000). The State Defendants
advance two arguments with respect to Plaistiéfaims for malicious prosecution. First, they
argue that there was probable cause foctiminal proceeding because Plaintiff failed a
breathalyzer test. (State Ds’ Mefrl..) Second, they contend tfaintiff has failed to allege

that he suffered any post-arraigaemt deprivation of liberty. Id. at 11-12.)
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i. Probable Cause

An officer has probable cause arrest if he haskhowledge of, or reasonably
trustworthy information as toa€ts and circumstances that arffisent to warrant a person of
reasonable caution in the belie&tlan offense has been ob&sing committed by the person to
be arrested.”Zellner v. Summerlird94 F.3d 344, 368 (2d Cir. 2007). Probable cause to
prosecute is “the knowledge fafcts, actual or apparent, stigpbenough to justify a reasonable
man in the belief that he has lawful groumaisprosecuting the defendant in the manner
complained of.” Jackson v. City of N.YNo. 10-CV-2530, 2013 WL 1622165, at *8 (E.D.N.Y.
Apr. 16, 2013) (internal quotation marks omittetlyhether probable cause exists “must be
determined with reference to the facts of each casand to the totality of circumstances.”
Manganiellg 612 F.3d at 161.

The State Defendants are correct that probedulise is assessed &tlifferent point in
time in a malicious prosecution action thanladarrest action where the prosecution follows a
warrantless arrest.Jackson 2013 WL 1622165, at *8 (interngqliotation marks omitted).
Information obtained by the defendant “aftes Hrrest, but before the commencement of
proceedings, is relevant to the determination of probable cause” for malicious prosecution claims
in such circumstancedd. (internal quotation marks omittedee Peterson v. Regindo. 10-
CV-1692, 2013 WL 1294594, at *10.(&N.Y. Mar. 28, 2013) (mbable cause for malicious
prosecution claim is assessedie judicial proceeding commergienot at time of warrantless
arrest). Thus, even if there were no probahlese at the time of arrest, a valid intervening
breathalyzer test could supplyethecessary probable causstpport the initiation of the

prosecution.
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The problem for Hilliard here, however, is thaif Plaintiff's version of events is
believed, as it must be at this stage — the breabafollowed an invalidmest. Plaintiff asserts
that Hilliard falsely alleged that he smelled alcobwolIPlaintiff, that Plaitff stated that he had
“two beers in New York City,and that Plaintiff failed the fidlsobriety tests, (SAC 16, 2€ee
id. Ex. 2), which formed the basis for Hilliard’sdsion to take Plaintifinto custody and order a
breathalyzer test. Assuming the truth of Plaintiff's allegations amdidg all reasonable
inferences in Plaintiff's favorgs | must do at this stageee Cruz v. City of N.YNo. 08-CV-
8640, 2010 WL 3020602, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. July 27, 2010), | find that Plaintiff has plausibly
alleged that Hilliard lacked probke cause to arrest Plaintifff indeed Hilliard knowingly
arrested Plaintiff without probadbdlcause, the breathalyzer resalisild be fruit of the poisonous
tree. See Clynch v. Chapma®85 F. Supp. 2d 213, 228-29 (D. Conn. 2003). In that event,
Hilliard’s initiation of the proscution, knowing the arrest was invalid and that the breathalyzer
results were not admissible, plausibly lacked probable cause.

ii. Post-Arraignment Liberty Restraint

“The Fourth Amendment right implicated @malicious prosecution action is the right to
be free of unreasonable seizure of the persam,-the right to be free of unreasonable or
unwarranted restraints1 personal liberty."Rohman 215 F.3d at 215. Thus, a plaintiff pursuing
a claim for malicious prosecution under Secti®3 “must show that the seizure resulted from
the initiation or pendency gfidicial proceedings.Murphy v. Lynn118 F.3d 938, 944 (2d Cir.
1997).

Plaintiff asserts that “a party &eized for so long as a prosecution is pending.” (P’s Opp.
21 (citingSinger v. Fulton City Sherjf63 F.3d 110 (2d Cir. 1995))Jinger however, noted

that to state a claim for maidazis prosecution under Section 198% seizure “must have been
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effected pursuant to legal process,” which will gaftg either be “in the form of a warrant, in
which case the arrest itself may constitute the seizure, or a subsequent arraignment, in which
case any post-arraignment deptions of liberty (such as being bound-over for trial) might
satisfy this constitutional requirementSinger 63 F.3d at 117 (internal citation and quotation
marks omitted). Plaintiff's arrest, which occurred without a warraeeSAC 21), was not
“pursuant to legal process™ and thus “cannatveeas the predicate deprivation of liberty,”
Singer 63 F.3d at 117 (quotirigeck 512 U.S. at 484Y* Plaintiff has, howeer, alleged — albeit
barely — that he was subject to a post-arraigniitegrty restraint, as tnSecond Circuit has held
that “a post-arraignment defendant who is adkgl to appear in court in connection with
criminal charges whenever his attendance is reduuffers a Fourth Amendment deprivation of
liberty.” Swartz v. Insogna’04 F.3d 105, 112 (2d Cir. 2013) (adteons and internal quotation
marks omitted)see Rohmar215 F.3d at 216 (seizure occurkeldere plaintiff was required to
appear in court on five occasions and “renderdaif at all times amenable to the orders and
processes of the court”) (internal quotation marks omittdd)phy, 118 F.3d at 946 (restrictions
on out-of-state travel for arraigned defendant lisdequired appearances in court amounted to
Fourth Amendment seizure). Although Plaintiff dowt allege that he waequired to post bail
or subject to any restrictions omt-of-state travel, he does indic#état he was subject to at least
one court appearance and plausiore, as he stated that thBAs announced that they were

ready for trial “throughout” the three yedhst his criminal charges were pending(SAC 40.)

14 plaintiff also citedHall v. Ochs 817 F.2d 920 (1st Cir. 1987) to support his contention that he established a
sufficient post-arraignment deprivation of liberty. (P’s Opp. Ha)l is inapposite, however, as the case did not
concern whether a post-arraignment liberty restraint hagred. Rather, the issue was whether the defendant, a
police officer, should receive qualified munity for confining theplaintiff in prison until he agreed to forfeit the
right to sue the policeHall, 817 F.2d at 924-25. Although the confirmrhwas correctly deemed a seizure, it does
nothing to support Plaintiff’'s contention that a seizure occurs throughout the pendency of a prosecution.

5 Burg v. Gosselin591 F.3d 95, 98 (2d Cir. 2010), suggested that “[t]he number of [court] appearances may bear
upon whether there was a seizure.” AlthoughShertzcourt found thaBurg's reasoning was questionable, it did
note that if the “multiple [court] appearanacesre for the arrestee’s convenience” then perBapg's reasoning
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As Plaintiff has plausibly gladed that he was subjecteda post-arraignment liberty
restraint, and the State Defendants do not dispatetib proceedings terminated in his favor or
that he has plausibly alleged actual malicehtis Section 1983 and state-law claims against
Hilliard for malicious prosecution survivedlState Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss.

2. Claims Against Orange County

Plaintiff also asserts sevessdhte and federal causesagtion against Orange County,
including:

e 42 U.S.C. 881981, 1983, and 1985 Conspiracy
e 42 U.S.C. 81983 and state-law Fatgeest and False Imprisonment
e 42 U.S.C. 81983 and stateMdalicious Prosecution
e 42 U.S.C. 8 1983 Negligent Hiring and Retention
e 42 U.S.C. § 1983 Abuse of Criminal Process
(SAC 45, 55-79.) For the reasons stated alimeennection witlthe State Defendants,

Plaintiff's 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and state-law claims for falsesaapd false imprisonment are
dismissed.

a. Monell Liability

Plaintiff argues that OrangeoGnty should be liable for the constitutional violations of its
employees. Municipal liability under Section 1983 requires proof that a particular constitutional
or statutory violation was thegelt of an official policy:

[A] local government may not be sued under [Section] 1983 for an injury inflicted

solely by its employees or agts. Instead, it is whaxxecution of a government’s

policy or custom . . . inflicts the injuryhat the governmenmas an entity is
responsible under [Section] 1983.

would carry some weightSwartz 704 F.3d at 112. If, on summary judgment, it is clear that the case was prolonged
for Plaintiff's convenience — which Plaintiff suggests bgidating that the ADAs statdtiat they were ready for

trial as of his June 2008 arraignment — then | negxamine whether Plaintiff actually suffered any post-

arraignment deprivation of liberty.
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Monell v. Dep’t of Soc. Sery4l36 U.S. 658, 694 (1978). Thec®nd Circuit has established a
two-pronged test that a plaifitmust satisfy before recoveg from a murgipality under
Section 1983.See Moray v. Yonker824 F. Supp. 8, 12 (S.D.N.Y. 1996). First, a plaintiff must
“prove the existence of a municipal policy or acust that caused his injuries to show that the
municipality took some aan beyond merely employing the misbehaving offic&fgpolis v.
Vill. of Haverstraw 768 F.2d 40, 44 (2d Cir. 1985). Secone, phaintiff must establish a causal
connection between the policy aneé thlleged civil rights violationld.
To satisfy the first prong on a motion to diss) Plaintiff must dkge the existence of
one of the following:
“(1) a formal policy which is officily endorsed by thenunicipality; (2)
actions taken or decisions made dpyvernment officials responsible for
establishing municipal policies whidaused the alleged violation of the
plaintiff's civil rights; (3) a practiceso persistent and widespread that it
constitutes a ‘custom or usageidaimplies the constructive knowledge of
policy-making officials; or (4) a flure by official policy-makers to
properly train or supervise subordinatessuch an extent that it amounts
to deliberate indifference to theghts of those with whom municipal
employees will come into contact.”

Moray, 924 F. Supp. at 12 (internal citaticansd quotation marks omitted).

Plaintiff's Monell claim against Orange County arises from the County’s alleged failure
to train its employees, as evidenced by Reisd Orofry’s alleged prolonged frivolous
prosecution of Plaintiff. (8C 55-58, 73-77.) The Supreme@t has stated that “[a]
municipality’s culpablity for a deprivation of rights is ats most tenuous where a claim turns on
a failure to train.” Connick v. Thompsoi31 S. Ct. 1350, 1359 (2011). As stated above, only

where a Plaintiff can demonstrate that a mypailify’s failure to train “amounts to deliberate

indifference to the rights of those with whommipal employees will come into contact” will a
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policy or custom that is actionablnder Section 1983 be establishbtbray, 924 F. Supp. at 12
(internal quotation marks omittedjee Connickl31 S. Ct. at 1359-60.

“[Dleliberate indifference is a stringent standafdault, requiring proof that a municipal
actor disregarded a known or obviaumsequence of his actionBd. of Cnty. Comm’rs v.
Brown 520 U.S. 397, 410 (1997). To establishlaate indifference, a plaintiff must
demonstrate that: (1) “a policymaker knowstmoral certainty that her employees will
confront a given situation’{2) “the situation either preseritee employee with a difficult choice
of the sort that training . . . will make les#fidult or that there is a history of employees
mishandling the situation”; and (3) “the wrong choice by the city employee will frequently cause
the deprivation of a citizen’s constitutional right&alker v. City of N.Y974 F.2d 293, 297-98
(2d Cir. 1992) (internal quotation marks omitted).

Plaintiff contends that the “repeated civdhis lawsuits against the County of Orange
and the Orange County [DA]” should have @range County on notice of the alleged
constitutional violations. (SAC 59; P’s Opp. 25.Dnly one of the cases Plaintiff cites,
however, contains a cause of antarising from the DA's failure ttrain its employees, and that
case can be readily distjuished. (OC Reply 49 SeeConnick 131 S. Ct. at 1360 (proof that

four convictions were overturned becaus&iEdyviolations still not sufficient to put

16«OC Repl.” refers to the Memorandum of Law in Further Support of the County of Orange’s Mdilsmtiss.
(Doc. 53.)

Plaintiff contends that the allegations containeljrers v. County of Orangé57 F.3d 66 (2d Cir. 1998), should

have put Orange County on notice that its employees repeatedly violated citizens’ constitutional rights. (P’s Opp.
25.) InMyers however, the plaintiff alleged that Orange County failed to train its employees to handle cases
involving cross-complaints, and thi& policy not to accept cross-complaints in certain instances was
unconstitutional.Myers 157 F.3d at 69. Here, Plaintiff seems tabeging that Orange County’s failure to train

its employees regarding probable cause resulted in the ADAs’ prolonged, frivolous parsethtm. (SAC 57,

62.) Myers related to cross-complaints, could not have put Orange County on notice that its training with respect to
probable cause was deficient.
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municipality on noticehat its training was inadequate as to specific tydgradlyviolation
plaintiff alleged).

Plaintiff has not adduced ayher evidence to demonstrabat a pattern of similar
constitutional violations existand instead, merely relies oonclusory allegations that the
ADASs’ actions could only be the productari Orange County policy or custon5ee€SAC 56-

57 (“The obviousness of there being a clearcastom and policy ithat not one but two

[ADAs] from Orange County separately eggd and persisted in prolonged frivolous
prosecutions [of] the same case. . . **)$uch conclusory allegations, however, are insufficient
to withstand a motion to dismis&ee Keitt v. New York Cjt§82 F. Supp. 2d 412, 433
(S.D.N.Y. 2011) (“Conclusory allegations legal conclusions masquerading as factual
conclusions will not suffice to defeat a motion to dismiss.”) (alteration and internal quotation
marks omitted),Johnson v. City of N.YNo. 06-CV-9426, 2011 WL 666161, at *4 (S.D.N.Y.
Feb. 15, 2011) (complaint that “contain[ed] onlywarsupported conclusoallegation that the
City failed to train the indidual Defendants” could not witlestd motion to dismiss because
plaintiff did not plead any facts dh“plausibly allege[d] a specaifideficiency in the training or
supervision program”) (internal quotation marks orditteFinally, even if Plaintiff's is correct
that the ADAs should have recognized thatdharges against him were frivolous, “a single

incident alleged in a compldirespecially if it involved only actors below the policy-making

" Plaintiff's contention that both Reis and Onofry pursued a frivolous prose@gainst him does not support an
inference that their decisions resulted fronaigye County’s failuréo train its ADAs. See Simms v. City of N.Y.

480 F. App’x 627, 630-31 (2d Cir. 2012) (plaintiff'Besyation that he was falsehrrested and maliciously
prosecuted twice within only a few mbstwas insufficient to support an inference that it was a result of the City's
failure to train its officers)see also Connigkl31 S. Ct. at 1360 n.7 (“[Clontemporaneous or subsequent conduct
cannot establish a pattern of violations that would provide notice to the city and the opportunity to conform to
constitutional dictates.”) (alteration and internal quotation marks omitted).
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level, does not suffice show a municipal policy."DeCarlo v. Fry 141 F.3d 56, 61 (2d Cir.
1998) (internal quotation marks omitted).

Accordingly, Plaintiff'sMonell theory fails, and the Section 1983 claims against Orange
County must be dismissed. Thare independent reasons for dismissal of those claims as well,
as discussed below.

b. Conspiracy

Plaintiff alleges that Hilliard conspiresith ADAs Reis and Onofry to maliciously
prosecute him in violation of 42 U.S.€8 1981, 1983, and 1985. (SAC 45-48.) In support of
his claim, Plaintiff merely alleges that Hatd had “direct communations” with the ADAs.

(Id. at 46-47.) To survive a motion to disméslaim for conspiracto violate Section 1983, a
plaintiff must show: “(1) an agreement between tw more state actors or between a state actor
and a private entity; (2) tact in concert to inflict an unconstiional injury; and (3) an overt act
done in furtherance of that goal causing damagbBgskovic v. City of Peekski894 F. Supp.

2d 443, 465 (2012) (internal quotation marks omitte&dljhough “conspiracieare by their very
nature secretive operations” that “may havbdgroven by circumstantiakther than direct,
evidence,” conclusory allegations of a conspiracy are insuffickangburn v. Culbertsqr200

F.3d 65, 72 (2d Cir. 1999) (internal quotationrksaomitted). Indeed, the complaint must

contain “enough factual matter (&kas true) to suggest that an agreement was made.”
Twombly 550 U.S. at 556.

Plaintiff's claims for conspiracy under Sexti1983 must fail. Platiff has not alleged
any facts that plausibly suggest Hilliard eggd in a conspiracy with any Orange County
employee. Plaintiff's sole conclusory amdsupported allegation theilliard had “direct

communications” with ADAs Reis and Onefry is insufficient to demonstrate that any agreement
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to conspire against Plaintiff was reach&ge Boddie v. Schnied@05 F.3d 857, 862 (2d Cir.
1997) (“A complaint containing only conclusory, vagaegeneral allegations conspiracy to
deprive a person of constitutional rights cannibhstand a motion to dismiss.”) (alteration and
internal quotation marks omittedomer v. Morgenthau 19 F. Supp. 2d 346, 363 (S.D.N.Y.
2000) (to withstand motion to dismiss, “plaintiff must provide some factual basis supporting a
meeting of the minds, such as that defendantgexhtato an agreement, express or tacit, to
achieve the unlawful end” as well as “some et time and place and the alleged effects of
the conspiracy”) (interdauotation marks omittedfziz Zariff Shabazz v. Pic894 F. Supp.

460, 467 (S.D.N.Y. 1998) (holding that mere gdieon of conspiracy without any facts to
support it cannot withstand a motion to dismidRJaintiff has presenteno facts suggesting
either a conspiratorial agreeni@m a motive for the same on the part of the ADASs or any other
Orange County employee.

Plaintiff's claim for conspiracy under Semns 1981 and 1985 must also fail. Like a
Section 1983 conspiracy, “to maintain ani@ctunder Section 1985, agitiff must provide
some factual basis supporting a meeting efrttinds,” which Plaintiff has failed to d&Vebb v.
Goord 340 F.3d 105, 110 (2d Cir. 2003) (internal quotation marks omitted). Furthermore,
Plaintiff has not alleged that he is a racial mityoor that he suffered &m any racial or class-
based animusSee Griffin v. Breckenridgd03 U.S. 88, 102 (1971) (to state a claim under
Section 1985(3), “there must Beme racial, or perhaps othése class-based, invidiously
discriminatory animus behirtthe conspirators’ action”Mian v. Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette
Sec. Corp.7 F.3d 1085, 1087 (2d Cir. 1993) (“To establish a claim under [Section] 1981, a
plaintiff must allege facts inupport of the following elements: (fje plaintiff is a member of a

racial minority; (2) an intent to discriminab@ the basis of race by the defendant; and (3) the
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discrimination concerned one or more of thewdidtis enumerated in the statute. . . GJeason
v. McBride 869 F.2d 688, 694-95 (2d Cir. 1989) (to stateection 1985 claim, plaintiff must
“allege that he was a member of a protectedsclasit the defendantsrspired to deprive him
of his constitutional rights, that the defendante@oevith class-based, irdibusly discriminatory
animus, and that he suffered damages as a resbk diefendant’s actions”) (citing 42 U.S.C. §
1985(2), (3)).

Accordingly, Plaintiff's claims for conspacy against Hilliard and Orange County under
42 U.S.C. 881981, 1983, and 1985 are dismissed.

c. Malicious Prosecution

Plaintiff's federal and statkw claims for malicious presution against Orange County
must fail, as Plaintiff has fied to allege “actual malice” onéhpart of any Orange County
employee. Although a lack of probable camseyallow an inference of malicege King v. City
of N.Y, No. 12-CV-2344, 2013 WL 2285197, at *7 (ENDY. May 23, 2013), such an inference
is not warranted here, whereaRitiff has not alleged any facsuggesting that the ADAs knew
or should have known that the informati@ntained in Hilliard’s supporting depositicsge
SAC Ex. B, was false. Furtheé?laintiff has not set forth any facéstablishing that anyone at the
Orange County DA’s office had an “improper meafhor anything other than the “desire to see
the ends of justice servedl’lowth v. Town of Cheektowad? F.3d 563, 573 (2d Cir. 1996)
(internal quotation marks omitted)ndeed, Plaintiff merelyli@ges that the ADAs had “direct
communications” with Hilliard. (SAC 47.) He provides no facts suggesting that there was
anything in those communications that woulddalerted the ADAs to any lack of probable

cause against Plaintiff. He has thus failedltege facts plausiblgyuggesting that the ADAs
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were acting with “actual malice.Plaintiff's Section 1983 and ate-law claims for malicious
prosecution against Orangehty are thus dismissed.

d. Negligent Hiring and Retention

Plaintiff alleges a claim for negligentrimg and retention undé&ection 1983 based on
ADAs Reis’s and Onofry’s pursuit of a frivologase against him. As a preliminary matter,
there is no cognizable claim for negligentingriand retention pursuant to Section 1983. As
Plaintiff is pro se however, | will construe his claim as one brought under New York law.

Plaintiff's claim for negligent hiring and tention should be dismissed because the SAC
fails to plausibly allge the cause of actidfi.Under New York law, a claim for negligent hiring
or retention “can only proceed against an empléyean employee acting outside the scope of
her employment.”"Newton v. City of N.Y681 F. Supp. 2d 473, 488 (S.D.N.Y. 2010) (internal
guotation marks omittedyee Gray v. Schenectady City Sch. D827 N.Y.S.2d 442, 445-46
(App. Div. 2011). If an employee is acting withilre scope of her employment, “the employer
could only be liable, if at aliicariously under the theory oéspondeat superipnot for

negligent supervien or retention.” Gray, 927 N.Y.S.2d at 44&ee Coville v. Ryder Truck

18 As an initial matter, Orange County contends that Bfégnclaim should be dismissed as time-barred. (OC
Memorandum of Law in Support of the County of Orange’s Motion to Dismiss (“OC Mem.”), 83pncl0.)

Orange County asserts that prior to filing his lawsuitreggat, Plaintiff was required to serve Orange County with a
Notice of Claim within ninety days fro the time his cause of action accruseeN.Y. Gen. Mun. Law § 50-e(1)(a),
and that Plaintiff did not file his Notice of Claim untilly20, 2011. Furthermor&ew York's Geneal Municipal

Law provides a one-year anthety day statute of limitations for civil actions maintained against a coSety.id8
50-i(1).

Plaintiff contends that Orange County was negligent in hiring and retaining ADAsafREBnofry because they
pursued a frivolous case against Plaintiff despite knowing that the charges against him weypantgdsby
reliable evidence. (SAC 66-67.) Plaintiff further alleges that Reis submitted an affidavit contasgeng fal
information. (d. at 68.) According to Plaintiff, the ADAs weready for trial beginning in June 2008, and thus
Plaintiff became aware at that timetlihe ADAs were going to pursue @anal proceeding against him despite
their alleged knowledge that Hilliard did not have probable cause for Plaintiff's arrest.

Because Plaintiff did not commence kwsuit until May 162012, well past the one-year and ninety day statute of
limitations, Plaintiff's claim for negligent hiring and raten should be dismissed as time-barred, and | need not
address the notice-of-claim issue. | address the plausilffilibe claim in an excess oution. (Even if Plaintiff

were to argue that he did not know the ADAs had been negligently hired until Reis filed the affidavith@hah
not), he does not allege that that affidavit was filed withie year and ninety days of his filing of the Complaint.)
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Rental, Inc.817 N.Y.S.2d 179, 180 (App. Div. 2006) (“Whene employee is acting within the
scope of his or her employment, thepoyer is liable under the theory spondeat superior
and no claim may proceed against the employendgligent hiring or retention.”) (alteration
and internal quotation marks omitted). Pldfintiowever, cannot demonstrate that Reis and
Onofry were acting outside the scope of tleanmployment when they handled his prosecution.
Moreover, even if Plaintiff culd demonstrate that the ADASs kgeacting outside the scope of
their employment, he has set forth no facts gtaly showing that Orage County knew of its
employees’ propensity to take the alleged asticausing the injury @hould have known the
same had its hiring procedures been adeqiuizde. Newtar681 F. Supp. 2d at 48Bpnohan v.
Martin’s Food of S. Burlington Inc679 N.Y.S.2d 478, 479 (App. Div. 1998).

Accordingly, Plaintiff's claim for neglignt hiring and retention is dismissed.

e. Abuse of Criminal Process

Finally, Plaintiff alleges a claim of abusembcess under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. (SAC 79.)
To make out a claim for malicious abuseodcess under Section 1983, a plaintiff must
plausibly allege that he walenied a federal righSee Peter L. Hoffman, Lotte, LLC v. Town of
SouthhamptonNo. 12-CV-4357, 2013 WL 1789271, at *1 (2d Cir. Apr. 29, 2013) (summary
order). Although Plaintiff has not specifiectteprivation of any federal right, the Second
Circuit has held that “where thmocess alleged to have been aolis criminal in nature, an
adequately ple[a]d[ed] claim for malicious abux process is ‘by dimition a denial of
procedural due process.id. (quotingCook v. Sheldgmtl F.3d 73, 80 (2d Cir. 1994)).

Federal courts look to state law to determireedlements of an abuse of process claim.
See Cook41 F.3d at 80. In New York, a malicioaBuse of process claim lies against a

defendant who “(1) employs regularly issuedal process to compel performance or
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forbearance of some act, (2) wittient to do harm without excuse justification, and (3) in

order to obtain a collateral agtive that is outside the legitate ends of the processSavino v.
City of N.Y, 331 F.3d 63, 70 (2d Cir. 2003) (alterateomd internal quotation marks omitted).
Orange County contends that Plaintiff's abusprotess claim should be dismissed because he
has failed to allege any of the necessary elé¢snestablishing this cae®f action. (OC Mem.

14.)

To plead a collateral objective, a plaintiff mpsusibly plead “not that defendant acted
with an improper motive, but rather an improparpose — that is, ‘he must claim that [the
defendant] aimed to achieve a collateralpmse beyond or in addn to his criminal
prosecution.” Douglas v. City of N.Y595 F. Supp. 2d 333, 344 (S.D.N.Y. 2009) (quoting
Saving 331 F.3d at 77). Plaintiff dsenot explicitly allege anymproper purpose, and the only
collateral motive he could cone@bly plead based on the facts contained in the SAC would be
that Orange County pursued criminal chargesregy him in retaliation for his prior lawsuit
against Kroeger (although evemtlallegation would be implaume, given that Kroeger has no
connection to the Orange County DA’s office anel gvents at issue in that case arose in
Sullivan County). “Neither retaliation nor a madias motive, however, is a sufficient collateral
objective to satisfy that element of a campiile malicious abus# process claim.”Peter L.
Hoffman 2013 WL 1789271, at *Zee Savino331 F.3d at 77 (“A malicious motive alone . . .
does not give rise to a cause of action for alefigeocess.”) (alteratioand internal quotation
marks omitted). Moreover, Plaintiff has allegedthmer that Orange County issued legal process
to compel or prevent him from performing an act that Orange County had any intent to do
harm. As Plaintiff has failed to plausibly pleady/af the elements of abuse of criminal process,

his claim must be dismissed.
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D. Leave to Amend

Althoughpro seplaintiffs are generallgiven leave to amend a deficient complase
Gomez v. USAA Fed. Sav. BahK1 F.3d 794, 795-96 (2d Cir. 1999) (per curiam), a district
court may deny leave to amend when amendnventd be futile because the problem with the
claim “is substantive [and] bettpleading will not cure it,Cuoco v. Moritsugu222 F.3d 99,
112 (2d Cir. 2000). While courts shoudd more lenient when consideringr@ separty’s
motion to amend than when considgrthat of a represented parsge In re Sim$34 F.3d 117,
133 (2d Cir. 2008), leave to amend is propeedyied where all indations are that tharo se
plaintiff will be unableto state a valid claingee Valle v. Police Dep’t Cnty. of Suffolk Cent.
RecordsNo. 10-CV-2847, 2010 WL 3958432, at *2 (E.D.NQ/ct. 7, 2010). | find that to be
the case here. Further, Plaintifishaot indicated that he is in ggession of facts that could cure
the deficiencies identified in this Opinioffhus, because Plaintiff has already had two
opportunities to amend his Complaint, and beeatiappears to the Court that amendment
would be futile, | decline tsua spontgrant leave to amend agaiSee Coleman v.
brokersXpress, LLC375 F. App’x 136, 137 (2d Cir. 2010) (emary order) (denial of leave to
amend affirmed whengro seplaintiff had already had oppariity to amend once and made no
specific showing as to how he would remedy defects in complafnfriel (UK) Ltd. v. Reuters
Grp., PLGC 277 F. App’x 43, 45-46 (2d Cir. 2008) (sunmparder) (district court did not exceed
its discretion in nosua spontgranting leave to amend whd?&intiff had already amended
complaint once and amendment would have been futile).

1. Conclusion
For the foregoing reasons, Defendants’ Motions to Dismiss are GRANTED IN PART

and DENIED IN PART. All claimsare dismissed except for thelésal and state-law claims for
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malicious prosecution against Hillca The Clerk of Court is resptfully directed to terminate
John Vanlaningham and the County of OrangBefendants and to terminate the pending
Motions, (Docs. 32, 35). The remaining paraes to appear for a status conferenc®atober
8, 2013 at 2:45 p.m.

SO ORDERED.

Dated: September 16, 2013
White Plains, New York

(tthy =it

CATHVSEIBEL, U.S.D.J.

31



